Public Document Pack

-
%// Agenda

Coventry City Council
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 15th September, 2015

Place
Committee Rooms - Council House

Public Business
1. Apologies
2. Declarations of Interests

3. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)
(@)  To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 27 July, 2015

(b) Matters Arising

4. Coventry Children's Centres - Progress Update (Pages 7 - 54)

Report of the Executive Director of People

5. Outstanding Issues Report (Pages 55 - 58)

Report of the Executive Director of Resources

6. Any Other Business

To consider any other items of business which the Cabinet Member decides to
take as a matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business
Nil

Chris West, Executive Director, Resources, Council House Coventry

Monday, 7 September 2015

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is
Suzanne Bennett, Governance Services Tel: 024 7683 3072 Email:
suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: Councillor: E Ruane (Cabinet Member)

By invitation Councillors H Noonan (Shadow Cabinet Member)

Page 1



Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting
OR if you would like this information in another format or
language please contact us.

Suzanne Bennett

Tel: 024 7683 3072
Email: Suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk

Page 2



Agenda Iltem 3

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Children and Young People held at
1.00 pm on Monday, 27 July 2015

Present:
Members: Councillor Ruane
Councillor H Noonan (Shadow Cabinet Member)
Employees (by Directorate):
People: F Doyle, L Gosling, L Ricketts, J Sembi

Resources: U Patel

Public Business
10. Declarations of Interests

There were no declarations of interest.
11. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 June 2015 were agreed and signed as a
true record. There were no matters arising.

12. Coventry Fostering Service Annual Report 2014/15

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of People
which provided information on the work undertaken by the Fostering Service
between April 2014 and March 2015.
The performance of Coventry Fostering Service is critical to delivery of high quality
local placements that can meet the diverse needs of Coventry’s looked after
children.
The report summarised the activity of the service over the past 12 months. It
highlighted the challenge of adequately recruiting the number and type of carers
who can meet children’s needs and the critical requirements of on-going support
and supervision of these carers too. The report also considered the role of the
senior management Fostering Steering Group and Members Task and Finish
group in providing additional scrutiny and input.
RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People:

1. Accepts the Fostering Services Annual Report 2014/15.

2. Approves the updated Statement of Purpose.

13. Adoption Financial Support Policy

Page 3



14.

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of People
which sought approval to the proposed changes for financial support provided to
adopters.

The Council would provide financial support to an adoptive parent or prospective
adoptive parent, for the purpose of supporting the placement of the adoptive child
or the continuation of adoption arrangements after an adoption order is made.

The Adoption Support Services Regulations 2005 specify the conditions for
providing adoption support services including the provision of financial support.

Eligibility for financial support would be based on an overall assessment of the
child and adoptive family’s support needs. Coventry would undertake an
assessment of support needs and this would include the undertaking of an
assessment at the request of an adoptive parent, after the granting of an Adoption
Order, if the adoptive parent feels there have been significant changes to a child’s
needs and circumstances or their own financial circumstances.

The adoption financial support policy was reviewed in 2009 and this review sought
to update the policy in line with the review of other allowances. Key elements of
the policy were detailed in the report.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
approves the revised policy as detailed in the report for awarding adoption
allowances with immediate effect for new cases and from the allowance
review date for existing allowances.

Update on the Troubled Families Programme

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Executive Director of People
which provided an update on the Troubled Families Programme.

Phase 1 of the Troubled Families Programme was completed in May 2015 with
Coventry achieving 100% success in turning around 905 complex families.
Coventry was invited by the Department of Communities and Local Government to
be an ‘Early Starter’ in Phase 2 of the expanded programme. The report provided
an update of progress and performance to date and challenges in going forward
with Phase 2 of the Government Programme through 2020.

The programme had so far successfully supported 905 Coventry families to turn
their lives around, helped them to secure a better future for their children and in
the long term improve their communities by lifting them out of poverty and
empowering them to take control of their future.

The programme had been a catalyst for the transformation of services, it has
supported greater collaboration, integration and co-location and has made joined
up working a reality. For families, it provided a ‘One Stop Shop’ approach where
services can be easily accessed. All of this was not only good news for Coventry,
but had provided the promised platform to continue the full transformation of
services highlighted through Phase 2 of the programme which would include a full
alignment of partner agencies to provide a holistic way of working in delivering

—2_

Page 4



services to families. This approach challenged traditional service delivery and
allowed families to be met at their point of need without requiring escalation to
crisis point or referrals into statutory service in order to manage risk and need.

The report further provided information on ‘Phase 2 — Expanded Troubled Families
Programme’, the governance arrangements, challenges facing the programme
and the timescales involved.
RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Children and Troubled Families
Programme notes the progress achieved to date on the Department of
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Troubled Families Programme
within Coventry and acknowledge the challenges faced for phase 2 as
outlined in section 4 of this report.

15. Outstanding Issues Report
The Cabinet Member noted a report of the Executive Director of Resources that
identified those issues on which further reports had been requested and were
outstanding, so that progress could be monitored.

16. Any Other Business

There were no other items of business.

(Meeting closed at 2.15 pm)

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4
o
%

//\ Public report
Coventry City Council Cabinet Member

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 15 September 2015

Name of Cabinet Member
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People — Councillor Ruane

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of People

Ward(s) affected:
All Wards
Services are delivered on a citywide basis

Title: Coventry Children’s Centres -Progress Update

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People, on
progress, to date, to address actions identified in the Cabinet Member meeting, 7 April 2015,
where the current status of Ofsted outcomes for children’s centres and progress against actions
to address recommendations in order for the centres to get to “Good” or “Outstanding” was
discussed.

In Coventry there are 17 children’s centres in total. The Inspection process for children’s centres
assesses performance and impact against a Statutory Framework of how the needs of children
and families are identified and met within a geographical area.

The overall outcome of an Inspection is categorised under the following judgments:
Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement / Satisfactory or Inadequate.

The key judgements are:

¢ Access to services by young children and families
¢ The quality and impact of practice and services
¢ The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management.

The Local Authority aspires for all children’s centres to be judged “Good” or “Outstanding” at

their next Inspection and as a result, work to achieve this remains a priority. At the meeting of
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People on 7 April 2015, the Cabinet Member for

Page 7



Children and Young People requested that officers continue to work to develop the children’s
centre service area in order to move Centres to “Good” or “Outstanding” at future inspections.

In addition, a number of key actions were identified and this report sets out to update on how
actions are being progressed.

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People is requested to note the progress made
against the recommendations from the last meeting on 7 April 2015, and request that Officers
continue to work to develop the children’s centre service area in order to move centres to
“Good” or Outstanding” at future Inspections.

List of Appendices included:
Appendix 1: NE1 Coventry Report Final
Appendix 2: NE2 Coventry Report Final
Appendix 3: NW1 Coventry Report Final
Appendix 4: SE Coventry Report Final
Appendix 5: SW2 Coventry Report Final

Background papers:
None

Other useful documents:

Sure Start Children’s Centres Statutory Guidance for local authorities, commissioners of local
health services and Job Centre Plus. (DfE April 2013)

Children’s Centre Inspection Handbook (Ofsted 2014)

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or
other body?
No
Will this report go to Council?
No
Page 8



Title of Report: Coventry Children’s Centres -Progress Update

1. Context (or background)

1.1 Statutory Guidance (2013) defines a children’s centre as: “A group or a group of places
managed by or behalf of local authorities, through which childhood services are made
available, at which activities for young children are provided “. The Core purpose of
children’s centres is to improve outcomes for young children and their families and reduce
inequalities between families in greatest need and their peers in:

-Child development and school readiness
-Parenting aspirations and parenting skills
- Child and family health and life chances

1.2 The regulatory function for the inspection of children’s centres is the responsibility of Ofsted,
under Part 3A of the Children’s Act 2006. The inspection framework was revised and
published in April 2013 and subsequently updated in April 2014. Under this framework an
inspection will either be a single centre or children’s centre group that offers integrated
services and shares leadership and management. The changes to the framework in 2013
also saw the removal of the “Satisfactory” judgement and the introduction of “Requires
Improvement”

1.3 Inspections can take place at any time as well as being scheduled using the information held
by Ofsted. Children’s centres that are judged as ‘requires improvement’ will normally be
inspected within a maximum period of two years and earlier if required. The Local Authority
expects that these children’s centres will be inspected in 2015.

1.4 The inspections make three key judgements that contribute to an overall judgement of the
effectiveness of the centre. The three key judgements are:

e Access to services by young children and families
e The quality and impact of practice and services
o The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

1.5 When judging the overall effectiveness of the children’s centre and when making the three
key judgements about access to services, the quality and impact of services, and the
effectiveness of leadership, governance and management of the centre, inspectors will use
the following scale:

Grade 1: Outstanding

Grade 2: Good

Grade 3: Requires Improvement (previously judged Satisfactory)
Grade 4: Inadequate.

Page 9



1.6 In order for children’s centres to achieve a “Good” or “Outstanding” overall
judgement Ofsted states that:
“The centre’s practice consistently reflects the highest aspirations for all children
and their families and in particular those in target groups and, as a result,
inequalities are reducing rapidly.”

“All three key judgements are outstanding. Exceptionally one of the key
judgements may be good and rapidly improving and all other key aspects of the
centre’s work are good or outstanding. The centre’s practice enables most
targeted children and their families to access good-quality services that improve
children’s well-being and achieve the centre’s stated outcomes. Other key
aspects of the centre’s work are likely to be at least good.”

1.7 There are 17 children’s centres in Coventry and of these, 3 are commissioned to the Private,
Voluntary and Independent sector. 12 centres have been inspected between 2010 and
2013, 10 have had single Inspections, there has been 2 group Inspections that include 6
centres and 1 has not yet been inspected. Overall 4 children’s centres were judged to be
good (Barley Lea, Tile Hill, Canley and Hillfields) and the rest are judged as “requiring
improvement” or “satisfactory”. (Flutterbies, Tommies and Valley House children centres which
are commissioned), Stoke Heath, Foleshill both Local Authority centres, North East 2 Cluster (Bell
Green, Moat House and Richard Lea children’s centres) and North West cluster (St Augustine’s,
Radford and Spon Gate children’s centres) which are also Local Authority.

1.8 Recommendations arising from any Inspection are integrated into the centre development
plan and the self evaluation form both of which are a statutory requirement and are robustly
monitored by the centre’s senior management team and Partnership Advisory Board on a
quarterly basis

1.9 All children’s centres have a duty to ensure that there is a Partnership Advisory Board in
place. This Board advises and helps those responsible for running the centre. It ensures the
centre is clear on parents’ views and plays an active role in driving improvement in the
children’s centre’s performance.” Partnership Advisory Board members are involved in any
Ofsted inspection of the children’s centre.

1.10 Partnership Advisory Board members are responsible for offering support and challenge to
each other (the agencies that they represent) and the Children’s Centre Manager and their
teams. The role of Partnership Board members is to hold each other and any external
partners to account in regard to sharing information, contributing to improving outcomes for

children and families, identifying key priorities and target groups based on data, experience
and in meeting local need.

1.11 Partner agencies represented on Partnership Advisory Boards across the city include
Schools, Health Visiting Service, Elected Members, Housing, Midwifery, Voluntary
organisations, Training providers, Job Centre Plus.

1.12 Parents Forums provide opportunities for parents to either be a member of the Partnership
Advisory Boards or for those parents who chose not to become members of the Board, their
views are still valued and considered as part of its decision making processes.

2.0 Actions identified at Cabinet Member for Children and Young People meeting 7 April
2015 and progress to date:

2.1 The Cabinet Member requested that officers continue to work to develop the

children’s centre service area in order to move centres to “Good” or “Outstanding” at future
inspections.

Progress- Work continues to be a priority for the Local Authority in further developing the
children’s centre service area across the City at both a local and citywide level.

Page 10



2.2 The Cabinet Member requested that Officers commission, as a matter of urgency, the
undertaking of mock inspections/ assessments of Ofsted readiness across children’s
centres.

Progress — The Local Authority commissioned Indigo Children’s Services to carry out
reviews of children’s centre clusters across the city. Reviews took place between May 2015
to July 2015. During this time Officers worked collectively across the citywide children’s
centre teams to share learning and implement changes .Findings outlined below
consolidate common themes taken from all reviews and identify areas of strength and areas
for development:

2.2.1 Areas of Strength:

o Acting Early Programme - 0 — 5 years:

Significant work to develop effective partnership and integration is an on-going focus for the
Local Authority at a Strategic Level and children’s centres locally. This includes the
development of the 6 Acting Early Programme sites has seen the early integration of
Health partners (Health Visitors, Midwives and GP’s) and Local Authority (Children’s
Centres, Children and Families First and Children’s Social Care) coming together to share
information and deliver effective and efficient services that avoid duplication and ensures
swifter access to appropriate service for families. These are not yet fully embedded across
all children’s centres.

Key performance indicators which measure impact of integrated working are reflected in the
Acting Early performance dashboard, these are monitored by the Acting Early Board on
monthly basis and an external evaluation for this project is in progress.

Findings from the reviews found that the ‘Acting Early’ partnership with health services is
developing well and was recognised as a model of very good practice of joint working in
some areas of the City. As a result, some centres know relatively higher numbers of families
and are in a better position to jointly identify and provide effective early help to vulnerable
families.

This approach has contributed very well to the increasing number of families expecting
children and those with young babies being known to early childhood services. This is well
embedded in the areas of the city that were identified as demonstrator sites, practice
continues to build as the model is rolled out across the city. The recent provision of live birth
data has strengthened information sharing further but it is too soon to see the impact of this.

o Effective joint working between children centres, social care, children & family first
teams and health services:

Some good partnership working was observed across the centres. Families who are known

to social care and those subject Common Assessment Framework processes are very well

engaged in the work of the centres. Centres have effectively prioritised early help and

support to children stepping down from social care.

¢ Raise Share and Review tracking and monitoring process.
The Raise Share and review process is in place in all children’s centres. Its purpose is to
track and monitor cases that are being supported by the children’s centres.
It was recognised through the reviews that Children’s Centre Leaders have a good
overview of children and families who receive support through this process.

o Effective support and challenge to Early Years providers regarding quality:
The work of children’s centre teams with the Private, Voluntary, Independent and
maintained Early Years and childcare sector was acknowledged as being a “real strength
which is contributing to an increasing number of children achieving a good level of

development (GLD).
Page 11



In 2015 the % GLD rate increased by 4.3% points to 63.9%. In 2013 it was just 55.4%.
The city remains above the national rate of 2014 at 60% with data 2015 not yet confirmed.

¢ Quality of services
Findings from the reviews, where the reviewer talked to parents and observed sessions
found that services delivered were of good quality with parents and children well engaged.
Parents were very positive about the activities and services which they access.

e Family support work
It was evident through the reviews that the quality of family support is good. Caseloads are
effectively managed and appropriate interventions are being delivered to families as part
of this work which focusses on the most vulnerable families. Partnership working with
Children and Families teams at CAF level 3 is very good. Staff and their partners have a
very good understanding of evidence based approaches to supporting more vulnerable
families and often jointly support families well, particularly at times of transition.

There was some evidence of good quality case recording which clearly demonstrated the
impact of the centres’ family support work.

2.2.2 Areas for Development:

The areas for development have been listed under the Ofsted judgement areas of a)
access to services by young children and families b) the quality and impact of practice and
services and c) the effectiveness of leadership, governance and management.

o Access to services by young children and families
The centres are reaching and engaging the maijority of local families. However, the
number of families accessing services is not yet high enough, particularly from priority
groups.

Improving take up of free early education for two-year-olds so that most eligible children
access their entitlement.

e Quality and Impact of practice and services:
Tracking processes are not sufficiently well joined up to enable leaders and managers to
confidently show that target children make good or better progress as a result of attending
services.

Joint planning between the children’s centre and adult learning providers, to help parents
to improve their education and employability, is not yet good. As a result centres are not
clear that the needs of parents are being met within their local area.

Quality assurance processes are not robust enough to ensure that all services are
consistently good including those services delivered by partners.

o Effectiveness of leadership, governance and management:
Improving the use of data to plan, evaluate and demonstrate good use of resources to
improve outcomes, particularly for priority children and families.

Governance arrangements do not make best use of data to drive improvements quickly
enough.

Partnership Advisory Boards are not always representative of all key partners. They have
not always had the relevant information to challenge effectively to ensure that centres are
good.

2.2.3 Progress to date to address areas for development:

Page 12



e Performance Management Data

There have been significant developments in identifying early childhood services that
legitimately contribute to the delivery of the children’s centre core offer as stated in the
Children’s Centre Ofsted Inspection handbook

An “integrated dataset report” across all early childhood services is now in place. Using
the central pupil database CAPITA ONE, registrations at children centres are linked to
social care records in Protocol and to records of take-up of Early Years Funded places.

In December 2014 the first report was produced with an update provided in April 2015. In
that period “Reach” statistics city wide rose by some 13% points from 54.4% to 67.4%

Children’s Centre Area Profile:
The area profile has been reviewed to enable the identification of target groups. The

demographic data has been refined and collated into dashboards for lower and medium
super output areas. This will enable officers to target services to where indicators such as
levels of poverty, workless-ness and poor health are a factor.

Capita ONE Data system reports:

A review of the range of reports produced by Capita ONE was undertaken in order to meet
new data requirements following recommendations from Children’s Centre reviews.
Developments have ensured that sustained contact (where a family access a children’s
centre service more than three times) data are now identified and instant access to
summary level data to inform the performance management of children’s centres through
target setting, quarterly monitoring and self-evaluation.

¢ Performance Management Cycle

Officers have undertaken a review to strengthen the Local Authority Performance
Management cycle for children’s centres which includes the introduction of new
documentation and processes to facilitate effective target setting.

o Take up of Early Education and Early Learning places for children aged 2,3 and 4
years
Work to ensure all children access their entitlement for early learning for 2 year old and
early education for 3 and 4 year olds continues to be progressed through the children’s
centre teams via a comprehensive communication and marketing approach and a targeted
response to sufficiency of places.

2.2.4 Next Steps:
The actions which have been progressed to date (above) have been prioritised. The focus
of further work has been identified as part of the children’s centre Improvement plan and is
listed below:
Review and update Partnership Advisory Board member training programme

Implement revised Local Authority Performance Management cycle for children’s centres

Review and redefine quality assurance processes for early childhood services including
those delivered by partners

Review and refocus work to track long term outcomes for children and their families who
have accessed children’s centre services

Page 13



To develop an economic well-being strategy with a robust Implementation plan that
outlines how services will be delivered to meet the needs of parents with a primary aim to
secure parents employability and improve their access to education.

To further develop the existing data set, additional links to records for involvement with
services listed below will be available for children’s centres and will serve to provide a full
profile of early childhood services accessed in each area:

Pre-school Education Service, Parenting Programmes, Education Psychology, Learning
and Behaviour Support Services, Sensory Support, Looked After Children Education
Service, Autism Support and Childhood Mental Health Services.

2.3 The Cabinet Member requested, as a matter of urgency, that the Head of Regulated
Services (Looked After Children and Early Years) contacts the Chief Executives of both
University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire and the Coventry and Warwickshire
Partnership Trust, on behalf of the Cabinet Member, seeking a commitment that their
employees fully participate in and attend Ofsted inspections.

Progress: Action completed 10t April 2015. This action was also extended to all other
relevant partners that include Job Centre Plus, Adult Education and other Local Authority
Service Areas.

3 Timetable for implementing this decision
Officers will continue to develop practice to secure good quality services for children and
families across the city. Priority in developing the data and evidence of impact in order to
meet OFSTED requirements will focus on those children’s centres likely to be inspected
soonest.
Comments from Executive Director, Resources

4.1 Financial Implications Revenue Funding
There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
Any resource implications as a result of the recommendations will be delivered within the
existing service resources

4.2 Legal implications
The Council has a duty under the Childcare Act 2006: Section 5A for arrangements to be
made to ensure that there are sufficient children’s centres, so far as reasonably practicable,
to meet local need. This section defines what a Sure Start Children’s Centre is and what
arrangements and services constitute a children’s centre.
The Childcare Act 2006 further outlines the statutory function of Ofsted in respect of the
inspection of children’s centre and the duty to inspect at five yearly intervals. Following
inspection the Act outlines the actions to be taken by the Local Authority including the
preparation of an action plan.

5.0 Other implications

5.1 This work Contributes to:

Page 14



“The core purpose relates directly to the wider duties local authorities have to improve the
well-being of young children in their area and to reduce inequalities between young
children in their area” (DfE 2013. Pg. 7)

The Statutory Duties relating to children’s centres are being considered as part of the
review and development of the Early Help Offer.

5.2 How is risk being managed?

The following may be risks for children’s centres achieving an improved judgment at their

next Inspection:

¢ Uncertainty around the future of children’s centres could impact on staffing stability and
difficulties around the recruitment and retention of staff as there are currently a number
of temporary contracts in place.

o Capacity of partners as increasing demand may result in reduction in capacity or
willingness to become involved in the delivery of children’s centre services and its
governance arrangements.

5.3 What is the impact on the organisation?
There are no Implications on the Organisation

5.4 Equalities / EIA
An EIA is not applicable for this report.

5.5 Implications for (or impact on) the environment
None

5.6 Implications for partner organisations?

None

Page 15



Report authors:

Name and Job Title:
Angela Harley

Directorate:

People

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7683 1738

Email: angela.harley@coventry.gov.uk

Name and Job Title:

Amanda Reynolds
Service Manager Early Years & Parenting. Service Manager Early Years and Children’s Centres

Directorate:
People
Tel and email contact

Tel: 024 7683 1676
Email: amanda.reynolds@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above persons.

Contributor/approver Title Directorate or | Date sent | Date response
name organisation out received or
approved

Contributors:

Yolanda Corden Assistant People
Director

Francean Doyle Head of People 19/08/15 19/08/15
Service Early
Help and
Prevention

Sue Johnson Head of People 19/08/15 21/08/15
Business and
Performance

Kevin Coughlan Performance People 19/08/15 21/08/15
Manager

Other members

Suzanne Bennett Governance Resources 25/8/15 25/8/15
Services Team
Leader

Names of approvers for

submission: (Officers and

Members)

Finance: Ewan Dewar Finance Resources 21/08/15 21/08/15

Legal: Helen Lynch Legal Services | Resources 19/08/15 24/08/15
Manager
(Place and
Regulatory)

HR: Myran Larkin Senior HR Resources 27/08/15 27/08/15
Advisor

Director: Brian Walsh Executive People 27/08/15 28/08/15
Director

Members: Name

Councillor Ruane Cabinet 28/08/15 28/08/15
Member for
Children and

Young People

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

Page 16

10



http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings

o &
af

. %
Childrenand
Familieskirst
Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

Coventry — North East 1 Cluster Children’s
Cenire

c/o 454 Foleshill Road, Coventry CV6 5LB

Information about this review

Michael Blakey, Chris Field and Karen Cooper undertook this review.

The review team visited both children’s centres that make up the North East 1 Cluster:
Foleshill and Stoke Heath.

They observed a range of activities including: ‘Summer Fun’ and ‘Family Links
Antenatal’ Programme.,

The reviewers met with: the cluster manager and leadership team; the chair and
members of the advisory board; representatives from the local authority including the
data team; staff: parents; and a range of partners including midwives and health
visitors,

The reviewers considered a range of documentation presented by the group and two
reviewers looked in detail at a sample of case files and the systems for monitoring
support for vulnerable families. The also looked at children’s learning journeys — these
related to children in the co-located nursery.

They evaluated the group’s safeguarding procedures, including training records and
safe recruitment checks.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B
www. indiaegsc.co.uk

rageP@ge 17

Final version




@ A

) XY
Childrenand
Familiesl-irst
Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

Information about this children’s centre group

Coventry - North East 1 Cluster is managed by the local authority. It includes two
centres: Foleshill and Stoke Heath. The cluster manager was previously responsible for
Foleshill Children’s Centre at the time it was inspected as a stand-alone centre.

The group of centres offers family support, parenting, early learning activities and child
and family health services.

The group serves an area that includes some of the most deprived localities in
Coventry and England. Some of these areas experience high levels of domestic
violence and crime. In these more deprived areas the number of children living in
poverty, or in workless households is high.

The majority of families living in the reach area are of Asian origin, with smalier
proportions of families from a wide range of other ethnic backgrounds.

Children’s skills and knowledge when they start at nursery are typically below those
expected for their age.

Foleshill was inspected on 8/11/2012, and judged satisfactory under the first
framework and under the same leadership. Freddie's Pride, the co-located nursery was
inspected on 11/02/2011 and judged to be outstanding under the previous framework.
The reports can be found at http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk

Stoke Heath was inspected 30/3/2011 and judged satisfactory under different
leadership. The report can be found at http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk

The group of centres has identified the following priority groups: children living in
workless households; children with English as an additional language aged two to four
in priority neighbourhoods; and children living in overcrowded households.

Indiga Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

Wyw.indigocsc.co.uk
Page 18 Page 2 of 9

Final version




N
&

Chik;!reng\fﬁd
FamiliesFirst

Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

Access to services by young children and families

Strengths

e The senior leadership team know the area very well and have a strong desire
to serve every single family living in the reach area. They recognise that this is
a tall order and have begun to focus their work more closely on identified
priority groups. (Note: Leaders have now identified that the main priority group
going forwards will be two-year-old children eligible for free early education.)

e Families who are known to social care and those subject to Common
Assessment.

« Framework processes are very well engaged in the work of the centres. This
strong focus on early help and support to children stepping down from social
care is a credit to the leadership team who have prioritised this approach.

« Partnerships and information sharing with midwives, health visitors, and
children’s social care are very good. The ‘acting early’ approach helps to ensure
that families who are more vulnerable are identified early and provided with
the joined up support they need. This aspect of work is not yet as strong in Stoke
Heath.

e Almost all families with new children are consenting to share information with
the children’s centres, but it is too socon to see the impact of this on
improving engagement levels. This does, however, bode well for the future
and the group should monitor access by these families more closely going
forwards.

« The group’s outreach work is helping to improve access to services.
Community walks, focused on improving access to free early education are
helping to increase engagement of eligible two-year-olds for example.

» Although leaders do not fully analyse attendance data collected through
parenting programmes, staff estimate that about 100 parents have accessed
over the last twelve months. The new eight week long ‘Family Links’
antenatal programme, which has just started and is co-delivered with health,
was well attended with ten parents including three fathers during the review.

Aspects requiring improvement

e A minority of children currently access children’s centre services. In the area
served by Stoke Heath, only 39% access services. However, further analysis by the
local authority suggests that the large majority of children are accessing an
early childhood service, including free nursery provision, health services and social
care. Although this may be very positive, the group is not able to clearly
demonstrate:

o the proportion of children from target groups who are registered and accessing
early childhood services

o the sustained engagement of target children and families in services.

o Data presented by the group on access rates by age show that
approximately 50% of children aged under one are registered,
However, only 73 of the 268 living in the Foleshill area have
accessed a service (27%). In Stoke Heath only a very small
minority of children (n=23/207) have accessed a service in the last

twelve MaRkRS chitdren's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
wyavw.indigocsc.co.uk

Final version

rgd?@age 19




@’;” 2,8

Childrenand
Familieskirst

Review Report, 14—-15 May 2015

¢ The overall picture of access is compounded further because attendances

at activities which are delivered by partners in the community and supported by the
centres, are not captured.

o The proportion of two-year-olds accessing free early education, at around 52%,
is not yet good.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B
www.indigocsc.co.uk
Page 20 Page 4 of &
Final version




— e

. ]

. e
Childrenand
Familiestirst
Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

e Clear targets around improving access to services are not set by the local
authority or the partnership advisory board.

Likely inspection judgement 3

The quality of practice and services

Strengths

e Activities and services are good quality, but not enough targeted families are
yet engaging with children’s centre services, particularly those aged under
three and from priority groups, and this limits the impact of the group.

¢ The ‘Summer Fun’ activity, for example, helps children to learn and develop
andstaff act as positive role models for parents. Children learn new words
such as ‘squeaky” and important routines which help them to be ready to learn at
school.

o The Nurture Programme is effectively evaluated and data are analysed by
group staff. The most recent evaluation showed that 75% of parents completed
the programme and that two thirds of these were from priority families.
Evaluations clearly demonstrate that this programme has helped to improve their
well-being.

« Provision to support parents to learn English is good and parents clearly engage
in discussions about British culture and employment during sessions. However,

- the lack of a créche limits the engagement of some families with young children.

« There are strong and effective partnerships in place to help to keep children
safe with a wide range of partners, including children’s social care and local
voluntary organisations and churches supporting the work of the group.

o The ‘Acting Early’ approach is highly effective. New cases are discussed on
a weekly basis and partners come to the meetings well prepared to share
information in order to ensure families receive effective joined up support.
Staff and partners clearly understand thresholds of need and refer cases to
children’s social care appropriately when this is required to protect children.

« The group provides some activities that support all families. However, its
current programme is heavily biased towards those families that it has
identified as needing help.

e Sessions for children are generally planned with clear links to the Early
Years Foundation Stage.

Aspects requiring improvement

e |eaders have recently developed a tool to monitor the quality of practice.
However, they have not regularly observed activities and setvices to have a
clear picture of the quality of practice over time. This includes services delivered
by partners.

e Tracking processes are not sufficiently well joined up to enable leaders
and managers to confidently show that target children make good or better
progress as a result of attending children’s centre services. However,
appropriate systems are in place in the co-located nursery and staff intend to
develop these systems for use in the children’s centres.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumnbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
wwwy, indigocsc.co.uk

Final version

ragdrage 21




e Data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early Years
Foundation Stage are not sufficiently analysed to help identify which groups of
children require additional support and to show that the work of the group is
helping to narrow inequalities.

e The data provided by adult learning do not sufficiently identify whether parents
of children aged under five attend some courses, such as English or
mathematics to help them develop skills for employment. This therefore limits
the group’s ability to demonstrate whether parents are well engaged.

Likely inspection judgement 3

wwi.indigocse.co.uk
Page6of 8

Page 22

Final version




. N
Childrenand
Familieshirst

%

A ]
@

Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

Strengths

The Partnership Advisory Board is highly supportive of the group.

Information sharing with social care is effective and helps to safeguard
children. The weekly ‘acting early’ meetings contribute to ensuring that
vulnerable families receive help at the earliest possible opportunity.

The local authority has driven improvements in the quality of family support
work and early help, including the use of the Comimon Assessment
Framework, very well. This successful approach to driving performance now
needs to be applied to driving up access by target families and evidencing the
impact of services.

Aspects requiring improvement

Progress has been made but systems and processes to monitor access to
services by priority groups and to show the impact of services are not sufficiently
well developed.

Although the group has correctly identified some key priotities on which to focus
its work, it does not have sufficiently clear outcome-based, specific,
measurable fargets.

Because data on access to services have not yet been analysed sufficiently well
the group is not able to effectively self-evaluate and plan activities to improve
access to services, for example.

The local authority’s target setting and monitoring processes are not as robust
as they need to be to ensure the group is on track to be judged as good or
better. As a result the advisory board doesn't have a framework from which to
challenge and support the group’s leadership.

Staff training records relating to safeguarding and child protection should
be maintained in an easily accessible format so that leaders can be
confident that everyone is trained to the required level including designated
safeguarding leads.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 988
www.indigocsc.co.uk

PagB&ge 23

Final version




2 ' :
Childrenand
Familicsrirst Iale | &

—

7
@

Review Report, 14-15 May 2015

Suggested improvements — the most important things to do

Joint improvements between the LA and group

Ensure that data are available and analysed to show the proportions of
identified target group children accessing early childhood services, particularly
those living in the most deprived target areas and for all target groups.

Analyse data to show the proportions of children aged under three accessing
early childhood services and the sustained engagement of target children and
families in services.

Use data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early
Years Foundation Stage to identify which groups require additional support and
to show that strategies are narrowing inequalities.

Ensure the development plan includes sufficiently clear outcome-based,
specific, measurable targets.

Centre specificimprovements

The self-evaluation form should be updated to include data on access by
target groups and to better show the impact of services on narrowing inequalities.
Ensure that involvement forms are fully completed and, if possible, review
the information currently held on families to ensure that the centres have
the best possible chance of demonstrating that they are reaching target families.
Ensure that any attendances by families at activities which take place in
the community are recorded and entered on the management system. If the
group is supporting the quality of practice in these activities then these
should be appropriately included. Likewise, ensure that the full programme of
early childhood activities is made available to parents online.

Build on the good work of the nursery to ensure that tracking processes
are sufficiently well joined up to confidently show that target children make
good or better progress as a result of attending activities and services
provided by the group.

Leaders and managers should observe activities and services more frequently
to evidence the quality of practice over time, as they have done with the
guality of case files.

The group’s safeguarding policy should be on the website and updated as
and when the policy changes.

Local authority specificimprovements

Page 24

MUST ensure that all designated safeguarding leads access
approptiate training within the required timescales and that all other
records of safeguarding training are easily accessible and clearly
record that all staff access appropriate training as specified.

Set clear targets around improving access to services and monitor these
regularly to ensure improvements are delivered at a good pace. (This will not
be possible until the data issues, identified above, have been addressed).

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

www.indigocse.co.uk
Page 8 of @

Final version




T
O, S
Childrenand mn d 1O
Familieskirst
Review Report, 14-15 May 2015 '

e Set outcome-based targets around heaith outcomes, adult learning and
early learning with the cluster manager, so that the local authority and PAB can
monitor the group’s progress and demonstrate effectiveness of services more
easily.

o Work with adult learning to provide data to show the numbers of parents
of children aged under five attending courses, such as English or mathematics
from the reach area.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

ragPage 25

Final version




TR, &
a

]

. o
Childrenand
Familieskirst

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

Coventry North East 2 Cluster Children’ s
Centre

c/o Moat House Children’s Centre, Deedmore Road, Coventry, CV2 1EQ

information about this review

Michael Blakey and Gemma Roberts undertook this review.

The review team visited all three children’s centres that make up the North East 2
Cluster: Moat House, Bell Green and Richard Lee,

This was a focused review following up on the progress made since the group was
inspected in December 2013. At the time, the group was judged to require
improvement.

The reviewers observed a range of services and activities including an ‘Acting Early
Case Management Meeting’, a ‘Play and Learn’ session at Richard Lee, ‘Summer Fun’ at
Bell Green and ‘Baby Massage’ at Moat House.

The reviewers met with: the cluster manager and leadership team; members of the
advisory board; a headteacher; staff including the partnership coordinator; parents;
and a range of partners. They did not meet with local authority data team during this
review but considered information provided by this team.

The reviewers considered a range of documentation presented by the group and
jooked in detail at a sample of case files and the systems for monitoring support for
vulnerable families.

They evaluated the group’s safeguarding procedures, including training records and
safe recruitment checks.

At the time of the review the cluster manager was absent and did not return to work
before leaving the local authority. The children’s centre team leader very ably lead the
review,

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9B8
www.indigocsc.co.uk
Page 26 Page 1 0f 6

Final version




@
a &

] Xy
Childrenand
Familieskirst

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

Information about this children’s centre group

Coventry — North East 2 is managed by the local authority. It includes three centres:
Moat House, Bell Green and Richard Lee, It has shared services and leadership,
governance and management and is therefore considered to be a group. Moat House
Children’s Centre and Richard Lee Children’s Centre are situated on primary school
sites.

The group offers family support, parenting, early learning activities and child and
family health services.

The group serves an area that includes some of the top 30% most deprived localities
in England and the large majority of children live in those localities.

4,302 children aged under five are estimated to live within the area served by the
group. The large majority of families living In the reach area are of White British origin,
with smaller proportions of families from a wide range of other ethnic backgrounds.

Children’s skills and knowledge when they start at nursery are typical for their age.

This group of children’s centres was inspected in 2013 and found to require
improvement. The report can be found at http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk

During the review the group tightened up its definitions of priority groups. These are
now: children living in the six most deprived areas (based on IDACI); children aged
two who are eligible for free early education; vulnerable children including all those
subject to CAF, looked after children, children subject to child protection plans, those
in need and children and families experiencing domestic violence.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumnbria, Ambleside LA22 98B

www.indigocsc.co.uk
ragge 27

Final version




_ X
Childrenand
Familieskirst

/" (‘3’
af

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

Access to services by young children and families

Strengths

[ ]

Targeted families are well represented at activities which are delivered across
the group’s reach area.

Although data show that a small minority of children aged under five living in
the area access children’s centre services, the actual proportion of children
attending wider services may be considerably higher. This includes three- and
four-year-olds attending free early education in line with the local authority's
new reporting process.

Families who are known to social care and those subject to Common
Assessment Framework processes are very well engaged in the work of the
centres. On average a full time worker holds fifteen cases. Cases are allocated
at ‘raise, share and review’ meetings every two weeks.

Families who are experiencing domestic violence are well engaged with the
centres.

Partnerships and information sharing with health visitors and midwives is
improving. As a result, more parents are finding out about, and then accessing,
the centres’ services.

The group has responded well to a previous inspection recommendation and is
now providing more sessions for one- to two-year-olds.

Aspects requiring improvement

About half of the new births in the area are now registered at post-natal
discharge clinics. However, involvement forms from other centres/clinics are
not always entered onto the system so that the group knows where most of
these children are. Registration rates are not yet good overall.
The levels of children accessing services are often higher than the level recorded
as ‘involved’ on the management information system. This is because some
children appear on Capita One but are not yet registered (involved) with
the centres. However, their attendance is recorded on the system. This
contributes to a rather confused picture with regard to the actual numbers
known and accessing.
Although the majority of children living in the area currently access
children’s centre services the group is not yet able to clearly demonstrate:

o the proportion of children from target groups who are registered and

accessing early childhood services

o the sustained engagement of target children and families in services.
The proportion of two-year-olds accessing free early education is
not high enough and it is fikely that this situation will deteriorate in
the coming twelve months.
Clear targets around improving access to services are not set by the local
authority or the partnership advisory board.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Page 28

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

www.indigocsc.co.uk
Page 3 of ©

Final version




. <
Childrenand
Familieskirst

Y
@

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

The quality of practice and services

Strengths

Partnerships with health services have developed well since the last
inspection, when this aspect was identified as an area for improvement. The
introduction of *Acting Early’ has contributed well to this.

The group of centres, and its partners, deliver a good range of
appropriate services, which are open to all families and those requiring
additional support. The group has a clearly defined rationale for the services
delivered.

One-to-one family support work is a particular strength of the group; and
leaders recognize that this group of families, including those with children subject
to child protection plans and those subject to Common Assessment Framework
processes, should be clearly identified as a key priority group, as a significant
praportion of resources are rightly allocated to supporting these families.

The quality of case recording is high and clearly demonstrates the impact of
the group’s family support work.

Sessions for children are generally well planned with clear links to the Early
Years Foundation Stage.

The centres have only very recently started to track children’s progress.
However, it is too early for leaders and managers to confidently show that
target children make good or better progress as a result of attending children’s
centre services.

Aspects requiring improvement

Leaders have not regularly observed activities and services and so do not have
a clear picture of the quality of practice over time. This includes services
delivered by partners. However, all sessions are evaluated and learning is
taken forward by staff. Leaders accurate judge the quality of services.

Data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early Years
Foundation Stage are not sufficiently analysed to help identify which groups of
children require additional support and to show that the work of the group is
helping to narrow inequalities. However, as part of the review the cluster
manager undertook this work and now has a clearer picture of where
underachievement is occurring: for example near to the Moat House Children’s
Centre.

The data provided by adult learning do not sufficiently identify whether parents
of children aged under five attend some courses, such as English or
mathematics to help them develop skills for employment. This therefore limits
the group’s ability to demonstrate whether or not parents are well engaged. This
was an issue identified at the previous inspection.

Data relating to obesity rates is only until the end of 2013.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Pagaa@ e 29

Final version




Childrenand
Familiesi-irst

—,

&
&

\ -

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

Strengths

The group has responded to some of the issues raised at the last
inspection, particularly around the use of data to target services more
effectively. However, some issues remain, For example, the ‘evaluation of
participation, attendance and quality improvement records in order to measure
impact’ requires further work so that this aspect is good.

Staff are motivated and engaged but concerned about the future; particularly
with the departure of the centre leader. The children’s centre team
leader ably supported the team through the review process and was very open
to feedback to improve further.

Information sharing with social care is effective and helps to safeguard
children. The fortnightly ‘raise, share and review’ meetings contribute to
ensuring that vulnerable families receive help at the earliest possible
opportunity. Likewise, highly effective and regular supervision of staff helps to
ensure families are effectively safeguarded.

The local authority has driven improvements in the quality of family support
work and early help, including the use of the Common Assessment
Framework, very well, This successful approach to driving performance now
needs to be applied to driving up access by target families and evidencing the
impact of services.

Aspects requiring improvement

The group has correctly identified some key priorities on which to focus its
work. However, it does not yet have sufficiently clear targets to further improve
access so that that the large majority of those targeted sustain contact with the
centres.

Systems to evidence the impact of services, particularly on children’s progress
are not yet effectively in place and it is therefore difficult for leaders to
demonstrate the impact of the group’s work in this area.

The local authority’s target setting and monitoring processes are not as robust
as they need to be to ensure the group is on track to be judged as good or
better. As a result the advisory board doesn't have an effective framework
from which to challenge and support the group’s leadership.

The range of partners who attend the advisory board and contribute to the
group’s development through effective challenge and support is not sufficiently
broad.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Page 30

Indigo Chitdren’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

www.indigocsg.co. Uk
Page S5of 6

Final version




- ' '
Childrenand
Eamilicel st 1N d |

=

&

=

2

Review Report, 15-16 June 2015

Suggested improvements — the most important things to do

Joint improvements between the LA and group

Ensure that data are available and analysed to show the proportions of
identified target group children accessing early childhood services, particularly
those living in the most deprived target areas and for all target groups.

Analyse data to show the proportions of children aged under three accessing
early childhood services and the sustained engagement of target children and
families in services.

Use data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early
Years Foundation Stage to identify which groups of children require additional
support and to show that strategies are narrowing inequalities.

Ensure the development pian includes sufficiently clear outcome-based,
specific, measurable targets.

Centre specificimprovements

The self-evaluation form should be updated to inciude the data on access by
target groups and to better show the impact of services on narrowing inequalities.
Implement tracking processes to demonstrate that target children make good
or better progress as a result of attending activities and services provided by
the group.

Leaders and managers should observe activities and services more frequently
to evidence the quality of practice over time, as they have done with the
quality of case files.

Widen the range of partners who attend the partnership advisory board
and contribute to the group’s development through effective challenge and
support.

Local authority specificimprovements

Review how families are registered (recorded as an involvement) to
better demonstrate the higher fevels of children who are known and actually
on the system. This will be important to be able to demonstrate ‘known’,
‘registered’ and ‘accessing’. It Is important to define ‘accessing’ and ‘sustained
contact’.

Consider re-opening provision to increase the proportion of two-year-olds
accessing free early education, so that most have access to good or better
services. In the short term, the group should consider other ways to meet their
needs.

Set clear targets around improving access to services and monitor these

regularly to ensure improvements are delivered at a good pace.

Set outcome-based targets around health outcomes, adult learning and
early learning with the cluster manager, so that the local authority and PAB can
monitor the centres’ progress and demonstrate effectiveness of services more
easily.

Work with adult learning to provide data to show the numbers of parents
of children aged under five attending courses, such as English or mathematics
from the reach area.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Final version

PagRa@ e 31



=
&

] Y
Childrenand
Familiesl-irst

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

Coventry — North West 1 Cluster Children’s
Centre

c/o Radford Children Centre, Lawrence Saunders Road, Radford, Coventry CV5 1HD

Information about this review

Michael Blakey, Karen Cooper and Gemma Roberts undertook this review.

The review team visited all three children’s centres that make up the North West 1
Cluster: Radford, Spon Gate and St Augustine’s.

This was a focused review following up on the progress made since the group was
inspected in November 2013. At the time, the group was judged to require
improvement.

The reviewers observed a range of activities including ‘Family First’, an ‘English for
Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL)’ course and the créche.

The reviewers met with: the cluster manager and leadership team; members of the
advisory board; staff including the partnership coordinator; parents; and a range of
partners. They did not meet with local authority data team during this review but
considered information provided by this team.

The reviewers considered a range of documentation presented by the group, and two
reviewers looked in detail at a sample of case files and the systems for monitoring
support for vulnerable families.

They evaluated the group’s safeguarding procedures, including training records and
safe recruitment checks.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
wiww. Indigocsc.co.uk

Page 32 Page 1 of 9

Final version




L W
Childrenand
Familieshirst

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

Information about this children’s centre group

Coventry — North West 1 is managed by the local authority. It includes three centres:
Radford, Spon Gate and St Augustine’s. It has shared services and leadership,
governance and management and is therefore considered to be a group.

The group of centres offers family support, parenting, early learning activities and child
and family health services.

The group serves an area that includes four of the top 10% most deprived localities in
England and five more in the 11-30% most deprived. The rest of the area is relatively
more affiuent.

4,216 children aged under five are estimated to live within the area served by the
group. The large majority of families living in the reach area are of White British origin,
with smaller proportions of families from a wide range of other ethnic backgrounds.

Children’s skills and knowledge when they start at nursery are typical for their age.

This group of centres was inspected in 2013 and found to require improvement. The
report can be found at http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk

During the review the group tightened up its definitions of priority groups. These are
now: children living in the top 10% most deprived areas; children aged two who are
eligible for free early education; vulnerable children including all those subject to CAF,
looked after children, children subject to child protection plans, those in need and
children and families experiencing domestic violence.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LAZ2 9BB

vaw.indigocsc.co.uk
Pagpzage 33

Final version




-
of ¥

L XY
Childrenand
Familieshirst

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

Access to services by young children and families

Strengths

o A highly skilled administrator supports the capable, reflective and driven
leaders and managers very well with regards to the analysis of data. Leaders
therefore have access to comprehensive reports on attendance at activities by
children. As a result, this group of centres is able to clearly tell the good story of
their overall improvement journey from July 2014.

o The group has almost tripled the number of children registered (involved) from 431
children in July 2014 to 1,242 in May 2015. This level of sustained
improvement demonstrates good capacity to improve, particularly as leaders
are tracking this progress in detail and further changes to the way in which
children are registered are already being implemented.

s The majority (54%) of children aged under five living in the area access children’s
centre services. Analysis of attendance by individual children since April
2014 shows that 256 families have attended a postnatal clinic at Spon
Gate; 483 attended a drop in session at St Augustine’s; and 75 attended a
‘Family First’ group at Radford for example. The actual proportion of children
attending wider services may be considerably higher, particularly if three- and
four-year-olds attending free early education are Included in fine with the
local authority’s new reporting mechanisms.

« In the most deprived area that the centres serve (SPON1) only 49% of children
are registered, however 57% of children are known to access services. Two
thirds of these children attend the centres or a service one to three times and
one third sustain their contact with centre (in this instance, four times or
more). However, the group has yet to do this level of analysis to show
access by other target groups.

¢ Families who are known to social care and those subject to Common Assessment
Framework processes are very well engaged in the work of the centres.
On average a full time worker holds fifteen cases. Cases are allocated at ‘raise,
share and review’ meetings every two weeks. Over the last twelve months 20
cases have been stepped down from children’s social care. Over 40 referrals
from health partners were received in the same period, clearly demonstrating
that families who need additional support are identified early.

o+ Partnerships and information sharing with health visitors and midwives is
very good. This is despite the fact that this area was not, at the time of the
review, an ‘acting early site.” The proposed move to become an ‘acting early site’
will further strengthen support to families. Midwives report positively that so far
nho parent has refused to register with the children’s centres at a post-natal clinic.

Aspects requiring improvement

e It became apparent during the review that the levels of children accessing
services were often higher than the level recorded as ‘involved’ on the
management information system. This is because some children appear on
Capita One but are not yet registered (involved) with the centres. However, their
attendance is recorded on the system. This contributes to a rather confused
picture with regard to the actual numbers known and the numbers accessing.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocse.co.uk
Page 34 page 3 of 9

Final version




i
= 48

=]

) D
Childrenand
FFamilieskirst
Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

eAlthough the majority of children fiving in the area currently access children’s
centre services the group is not yet able to clearly demonstrate:

o the proportion of children from target groups who are registered and accessing
early childhood services

o the sustained engagement of target children and families in services.
o The proportion of two-year-olds accessing free early education is not good

and a number of providers are due to close, compounding the situation.

o Clear targets around improving access to services are not set by the local

authority or the partnership advisory board.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indiga Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 988
wwnw.indigocsc.co.uk

ragb¥@ge 35

Final version




,7"5;
&

] XY
Childrenand
Familieshirst

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

The quality of practice and services

Strengths

o The group of centres, and its partners, deliver a wide range of
appropriate services, which are open to all families and those requiring additional
support. The group has a clearly defined rationale for the services delivered.

o One-to-one family support work is a particular strength of the group; and
leaders recognise that this group of families, including those with chiidren subject
to child protection plans and those subject to Common Assessment Framework
processes, should be clearly identified as a key priority group, as a significant
proportion of resources are rightly allocated to supporting these families.

o The quality of case recording is very high and clearly demonstrates the impact
of the group’s family support work.

o Partnership working with the Child and Family First Team CAF level 3
workers is very good. Staff and their partners have a very good
understanding of evidence- based approaches to supporting more vulnerable
families and often jointly support families well, particularly at times of transition.

« Families who are subject to domestic violence are well supported through a
range of services including the ‘Wings Group” at Radford and “Just for Me'. The
group, as part of the review, rightly recognised that these vulnerable families
should also be clearly identified as priority group; whilst acknowledging
that no baseline is possible.

o Activities and services are generally good quality, but data do not clearly
show whether enough targeted families are yet engaging with children’s centre
services, particularly those aged under three and from priority groups, and
this limits the impact of the group.

o Sessions for children are generally planned with clear links to the Early
Years Foundation Stage. Data across the reach areas show that the proportion
of children achieving a good level of development is above the level seen
nationally and across the city.

» The ESOL programme is good quality and teaching is effective. Parents make
good progress as a result of attending this.

Aspects requiring improvement

e The créche, which is delivered to support the ESOL course, requires
improvement. Children attend this activity regularly and opportunities to
closely track their progress, and plan for their individual needs, are missed.

¢ Leaders have not regularly observed activities and services and so do not have
a clear picture of the quality of practice over time. This includes services
delivered by partners. However, all sessions are evaluated and learning is
taken forward by staff.

e The centres have tried several methods of tracking children’s processes since
the last inspection but a consistent approach has not yet been adopted. Leaders
and managers are not therefore able to confidently show that target children
make good or better progress as a result of attending children’s centre services.

¢ Data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early Years
FoundationStage are not sufficiently analysed to help identify which groups of
children require
Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

wiww.indigocsc.co.uk
Page 36 Page 5 of ¢

Final version




r": = E@
@

. XY . .
Childrenand N di
Familiestirst - ;
Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

additional support and to show that the work of the group is helping to narrow
inequalities.

+ The data provided by adult learning do not sufficiently identify whether parents of
children aged under five attend some courses, such as English or mathematics
to help them develop skills for employment. This therefore limits the group’s
ability to demonstrate whether or not parents are well engaged. This was an
issue identified at the previous inspection.

o Obesity rates are above levels seen across the city and nationally, but data relates
only until the end of 2013.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 988
www.indigocsc.co.uk

ragHRgige 37

Final version




(;hilgiren:;hd
Familiesl-irst

e,

)
g

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

Strengths

®

At the time of the last inspection, inspectors commented that it was too early
to see the impact of new leadership. This is now clearly evident. Leaders have
made good progress in improving access to services, particularly as
evidenced in the number of children registered (involved) and the appropriate
range of services on offer.

Leaders have responded very well to most of the issues raised at the
last inspection, particularly around the use of data to target services more
effectively. Some issues remain — although many of these require a strategic
focus guided by the local authority.

Leaders are committed, determined and open to challenge and support; they
have

created an effective culture of self-evaluation and improvement and as a result
this group of centres is improving well. Staff are motivated and engaged.
Information sharing with social care is effective and helps to safeguard
children. The fortnightly ‘raise, share and review’ meetings contribute to
ensuring  that vulnerable families receive help at the earliest possible
opportunity. Likewise, highly effective and regular supervision of staff helps to
ensure families are effectively safeguarded.

The local authority has driven improvements in the quality of family support
work and early help, including the use of the Common Assessment
Framework, very well. This successful approach to driving performance now
needs to be applied to driving up access by target families and evidencing the
impact of services.

Aspects requiring improvement

The group has correctly identified some key priorities on which to focus its
work. However, it does not yet have sufficiently clear targets to further improve
access so that that the large majority of those targeted sustain contact with the
centres.

Systems to evidence the impact of services, particularly on children’s progress
are not yet effectively in place and it is therefore difficult for leaders to
demonstrate the impact of the group’s work in this area.

The local authority’s target setting and monitoring processes are not as robust
as they need to be to ensure the group is on track to be judged as good or
better. As a result the advisory board doesnt have an effective framework
from which to challenge and support the group’s leadership.

Staff training records relating to safeguarding and child protection are
not maintained in an easily accessible format so that leaders can be
confident that everyone is trained fo the required level.

The range of partners who attend the advisory board and contribute to the
group’s devejopment through effective challenge and support is not sufficiently
broad.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 988

Page 38

WWW, IO tC .0k

Page 7 of 9
Final version




R
8

] X
Childrenand
FamiliesFirst

Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

Suggested improvements — the most important things to do

Joint improvements between the LA and group

o Build on the good work already started at a group level to ensure that data
are available and analysed to show the proportions of identified target group
children accessing early childhood services, particularly those living in the most
deprived target areas and for all target groups.

« Analyse data to show the proportions of children aged under three accessing
early childhood services and the sustained engagement of target children and
families in services.

o Use data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early
Years Foundation Stage to identify which groups of children require additional
support and to show that strategies are narrowing inequalities.

« FEnsure the development plan includes sufficiently clear outcome-based,
specific, measurable targets.

Centre specificimprovements

o The self-evaluation form should be updated to include the data on access by
target groups and to better show the impact of services on narrowing inequalities.

o Implement tracking processes to demonstrate that target children make good
or better progress as a result of attending activities and services provided by
the group.

+ leaders and managers should observe activities and services more frequently
to evidence the quality of practice over time, as they have done with the
guality of case files.

« Widen the range of partners who attend the partnership advisory board
and contribute to the group’s development through effective challenge and
support.

Local authority specificimprovements

¢ MUST ensure that all safeguarding training is clearly recorded
to demonstrate that all staff have received appropriate training in line
with statutory guidance.

« Review how families are registered (recorded as an involvement) to
better demonstrate the higher levels of children who are known and actually
on the system. This will be important to be able to demonstrate *known’,
‘registered’ and ‘accessing’. It is important to define ‘accessing’ and ‘sustained
contact’,

« Consider re-opening provision to increase the proportion of two-year-olds
accessing free early education, so that most have access to good or better
services, In the short term, the group should consider other ways to meet their
needs.

o Set clear targets around improving access to services and monitor these
regularly to ensure improvements are delivered at a good pace.

« Set outcome-based targets around health outcomes, adult learning and early
learning with the cluster manager, so that the local authority and PAB can
monitor the group’s progress and demonstrate effectiveness of services more

easily.
Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

www.indigocsc.co.uk

PagRag e 3 9

Final version




TR

&
- n&
Childrenand
Familiest-irst
Review Report, 20-21 May 2015

(]

e Work with adult learning to provide data to show the numbers of parents
of children aged under five attending courses, such as English or mathematics
from the reach area.

Indigo Children's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 SBB
www.indigocse.co.uk
Page 40 Page 9 of 9

Final version




/7‘_’ : 5]
&

) o
Childrenand
Familieskirst
Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

Coventry —_ _ South _
Centre

c/o Humber Avenue, Stoke, Coventry CV1 25F

Information about this review

Michael Blakey and Karen Cooper undertook this review. The review team visited all
three children’s centres that make up the South East Cluster: Bariley Lea, Gosford Park

and Middle Ride.

They observed a range of activities including English for Speakers of Other Languages
(ESOL), créche, ‘Family First’, 'Baby First’ and ‘Cheylesmore Learning Together.” They
undertook two joint observations with members of the group’s leadership team.

The reviewers met with: the centre manager; chair of the advisory board;
representatives from the local authority including the data team; a childminder; two
partnership coordinators; a childcare quality regulations advisor; the headteacher of
Gosford Park Primary School; midwives; a health visitor, a representative of family
learning; and an early years provider.

The reviewers considered a wide range of documentation presented by the group and
looked in detail at a range of case files and the systems for monitoring support for
vulnerable families.

They also evaluated the group’s safeguarding procedures, including training records
and safe recruitment checks.

Indigo Children's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B
wenw.indigocsc.co.uk

Pagel?a.g e 4l

Final version




o .

. . E X
Chl'@[’@ﬂ@.ﬂd ' I n d | e
Familiesl-irst
Review Report, 11-12 May 2015 |

&

Information about this children’s centre group

Coventry - South East Cluster is managed by the local authority. It includes three
centres: Middle Ride, Barley Lea and Gosford Park Centre. The cluster manager has
been in post since September 2013.

Barley Lea and Middle Ride Children Centres were previously Sure Start Local
Programmes and offer nursery provision, family support and child and family health
services.  Gosford Park Children’s Centre offers early education opportunities, family
support and child and family health services on the Gosford Park Primary School site.

The group of centres serves an area that includes some of the most deprived localities
in Coventry and England. Some of these areas experience high levels of domestic
violence and crime. In these more deprived areas the number of children living in
poverty, or in workless households is high.

Middle Ride Children Centre was inspected on 25/05/11, and judged satisfactory;
Barley Lea was inspected on 2/02/12, and judged good. Gosford Park has not yet
been inspected, and as a result the cluster of three centres will be inspected as a
group. The school and the early years provision are all subject to inspections, which
would be separate to the inspection of the group. The reports can be found at
http://reports.ofsted.gov.uk

The majority of families living in the reach area of White British origin, with smaller
proportions of families from a wide range of other ethnic backgrounds. Accurate data
are not available to show the propottion of children for whom English is an additional
language but local intelligence suggests that the number is rising.

Children’s skills and knowledge when they start at nursery are typically below those
expected for their age.

The group has identified the following priority groups: children living in poverty and
workless households, primarily in the most deprived LSOAs; children and families
experiencing domestic violence and abuse; teenage parents; and those identified as
more vulnerable including children subject to child protection plans, those in need, and
children who are subject to Common Assessment Framework processes.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

www.indigacsc.co.uk
Page 42 Page 2 of 8

Final version




Childrenand
Familieskirst

N
@

Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

Access to services by young children and families

Strengths

]

The local authority has made good progress in brokering the sharing of
information on births from health services. This is shortly to be shared with
centres to help staff to more effectively identify and register a greater
proportion of young children.

Information sharing and partnership working with midwives is a strength and
helps to ensure that most families expecting children, and those with young
babies, know of the group and its services.

The local authority is building well on the new management information system
to provide more reliable data on families accessing services.

The new reporting by the local authority clearly demonstrates that the
large majority (67%) of children access an early childhood service
including early education, children’s centre, social care or health service.
This information is reliable because the local authority has developed a process
to ensure that no child can be counted more than once.

The cluster manager's work to demonstrate that target families access
services clearly shows that, of those families that access the centres, high
proportions are from target groups.

Target groups are identified based on a wide range of information including
the most recent data available and local intelligence.

Families for whom English is an additional language, although not
specifically identified as a target group by the group of centres, are well served.
Some family learning programmes, such as the seasonal fun activities, are

well attended.

Aspects requiring improvement

Leaders are not able to show that the large majority of children from some
key target groups (particularly by deprived LSOA) access services because the
data available from the local authority are not analysed as well as the overall
picture to clearly demonstrate:
o the proportion of children from target groups who are registered and
accessing early childhood services
o the proportion of children aged under three accessing early childhood

services
o the sustained engagement of target children and families in services.

Children’s centre involvement forms are not always completed fully and therefore
leave gaps in the information held on the management information system.

The proportion of two-year-olds accessing free early education, at 65%, is not
yet good even though the group has been very effective at improving the

quality and range of provision locally.
Clear targets around improving access to services are not set by the local

authority

or the partnership advisory board.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indige Children’s Services CIC, University of Curabria, Ambleside LA22 9BB

wyww.indigocsc.co.uk

rageP@ge 43

Final version




X,
Childrenand
Familiesl-irst

-

5 @
®

Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

The quality of practice and services

Strengths

]

Page 44

The group provides a good balance of activities that support all families and
those it has identified as needing particular help. Many parents told the
inspectors that they find the centres very welcoming and the staff approachable
and helpful. Tt is clear that the centres provide strong care, guidance and
support for parents and their children and access to a wide range of helpful
information,  including  on domestic violence, hate crime and language
development for example.

There is a wide range of information around the centres to help to ensure
that children are health and safe. For example, there are many nolices
reminding parents why mobile phones should not be used to take photographs.
The quality of some activities is good, and occasionally very good, and
families rightly enjoy attending the centres. Activities such as ‘Family first -
learning together’ rightly focus on helping children to develop their language
and number skills. Children who attend these activities clearly develop good
routines, which help to prepare them for school. At these sessions families
are often given appropriate fun activities to take home and encouraged to borrow
books to read.

The centres regularly accept children’s clothing from families and heip to share
this with other parents who may need support through the ‘love me again’ scheme,
Evaluations, such as those of ‘Autumn Fun’, clearly demonstrate the impact
of services on those families that attend. For example, one parent stated: 'I
want to help my daughter to mingle with other children and learn new words.” At
the end of the term, she went on to say: ‘Her talking has improved so much
and she’s really come out of her shell since coming. It has helped her so much and
she loves it.’

Breastfeeding rates in the Middle Ride area are improving well as a result
of targeted multi-agency working. Obesity rates are broadly in line with levels
seen nationally. However, the group has correctly identified that at 23% the
proportion of children who are not of a healthy weight is too high in Middle Ride.
A wide range of activities is therefore delivered to support the promotion of
healthy living across the whole area.

Support for children who are subject to child protection plans, those in need,
and those subject to Common Assessment Framework process is good. This is
clearly demonstrated in the case files, which record very carefully contact with
children and parents. The “raise, share and review’ processes helps to ensure that
managers keep a very close watch on work with these more vulnerable families.
Data on achievement, at a school level, are used to identify need and plan
services where they are needed, and sometimes in collaboration with
partners such as family learning.

Support to early years providers is a real strength of the group’s work and
is helping to contribute to improving overall levels of achievement in the reach
area.

Indigo Children's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Page 4 of 8
Final version




_._@
@ :

L\
Childrenand
Familieslirst
Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

Aspects requiring improvement

¢ The créche, which is delivered to support the ESOL course, requires
improvement. This is because activities are not planned or delivered sufficiently
well to support the development of language, and an important opportunity
therefore is missed for these children who attend for a few hours every week,

o Tracking processes are not sufficiently well joined up to enable leaders
and managers to confidently show that target children make good or better
progress.

¢ Data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early Years
Foundation Stage are not sufficiently analysed to help identify which groups of
children require additional support and to show that the work of the group is
helping to narrow inequalities.

e The data provided by adult learning do not sufficiently identify whether parents
of children aged under five attend some courses, such as English or
mathematics to help them develop skills for employment. This therefore limits
the group’s ability to demonstrate whether parents are well engaged.

¢ Leaders and managers have not observed activities and services frequently
enough to have a clear picture of the quality of practice over time.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children's Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LAZ2 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

rageP@ge 45

Final version




Childrenand
Familieshirst

«_v:'. L)
(¥

3

Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

Strengths

The cluster manager is a highly skilled and competent children’s services
leader, who has made a discernable positive difference to the way the three
centres have operated since taking up post in late 2013, Access to services and
the quality and impact of services have improved well as a result of her
leadership. She is very ably supported by a capable and dedicated senior
leadership team and a well-informed community leader, who chairs the advisory
board.

Information sharing with social care is effective and helps to safeguard
children and young people living in the reach area. The Multi-Agency Safeguarding
Hub effectively shares information on families who are experiencing domestic
violence in the group’s reach area so that staff can provide support. Likewise,
leaders attend the local Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference. The
weekly ‘acting early’ meetings contribute to ensuring that vulnerable families
receive help at the earliest possible opportunity.

Leaders have good access to the social care information system, Protocol,
and regularty check if children are known to social care or not when they have
concerns about a family. This again contributes well to the
coordinated sharing of appropriate information to help to keep children safe.
The local authority has driven improvements in the quality of family support
work and early help, including the use of the Common Assessment
Framework, very well. This successful approach to driving performance now
needs to be applied to driving up access by target families and evidencing the
impact of services.

The Partnership Advisory Board Chairperson has a clear view about what the
board needs to do to drive further improvements in access and quality of
services. The board is becoming more challenging, although this is not clearly
evident from the meeting minutes.

Aspects requiring improvement

Although the group has correctly identified some key priorities on which to focus
its work, it does not have a sufficiently clear outcome-based, specific,
measurable targets.

Because data on access to services have not yet been analysed sufficiently well
the group is not able to effectively self-evaluate and plan activities to improve
access to services, for example.

The local authority’s target setting and monitoring processes are not as robust
as they need to be to ensure the group is on track to be judged as good or
better. As a result the advisory board doesn’t have a framework from which to
challenge and support the group’s leadership.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Page 46

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
vawwy.indigocsc.co.uk

Page 6 of 8
Final version




- s @

e

L]

. XY
Childrenand
Familieshirst
Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

Suggested improvements — the most important things to do

Joint improvements between the LA and group

e FEnsure that data are available and analysed to show the proportions of
identified target group children accessing early childhood services, particularly
those living in the most deprived target areas including children living in
workless households and those in poverty.

« Analyse data to show the proportions of children aged under three accessing
early childhood services and the sustained engagement of target children and
families in services.

» Use data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early
Years Foundation Stage to identify which groups require additional support and
to show that strategies are narrowing inequalities.

« Ensure that activities in the ESOL créche are good quality, planned and delivered
to support the development of language, and that children’s language
development is tracked effectively by building on the good practice in other
activities.

« Ensure the development plan includes sufficiently clear outcome-based,
specific,measurable targets.

Centre specificimprovements

e Ensure that involvement forms are fully completed and, if possible, review
the information currently held on families to ensure that the centres have
the best possible chance of demonstrating that they are reaching target families.

« Ensure that tracking processes are sufficiently well joined up to confidently
show that target children make good or better progress as a result of attending
activities and services provided by the group.

« Leaders and managers should observe activities and services more frequently
to evidence the quality of practice over time, as they have done with the
quality of case files.

e The self-evaluation form should be updated to include data on access by
target groups and to better show the impact of services on narrowing inequalities.

« The group’s safeguarding policy should be on the website and updated as
and when the policy changes.

Local authority specificimprovements

o Set clear targets around improving access to services and monitor these
regularly to ensure improvements are delivered at a good pace. (This will not
be possible until the data issues, identified above, have been addressed).

o Set outcome-based targets around health outcomes, adult learning and
early learning with the cluster manager, so that the local authority and PAB can
monitor the group’s progress and demonstrate effectiveness of services more
easily.

o Work with adult learning to provide data to show the numbers of parents
of children aged under five attending courses, such as English or mathematics
from the reach area.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
wwy.indigocsc.co.uk
ragPaige 47

Final version




=
Y
@ i

Childrenand
Familieskirst

Review Report, 11-12 May 2015

o Consider re-opening provision to increase the proportion of two-year-olds
accessing free early education, so that most have access to good or better
services. In the short term, the group should consider other ways to meet their
needs.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22Z 98B
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Page 48 Page 8 of 8

Final version




,v._@}
@ :

, XY
Childrenand
Familiesl-irst
Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

Coventry — South West 2 Cluster Children’s
Centre

c/o Tile Hill Children’s Centre, Jardine Crescent, Coventry CV4 9PL

Information about this review

Michael Blakey and Gemma Roberts undertook this review. Angela Harley and Amanda
Reynolds joined the review team until 1200 on Day 2.

The review team visited both children’s centres that make up the South West 2
Cluster: Tile Hill and Canley.

Tile Hill Children’s Centre was inspected in 2010 and judged to be good. Canley
Children's Centre was inspected in 2012 and also judged to be good. Both centres
were inspected under the first children’s centre framework and have not been subject
to an inspection under the current arrangements.

The reviewers observed a range of activities including a wildlife walk, baby massage
and a health visitor clinic.

The reviewers met with: the acting managers and leadership team, members of the
advisory board, staff, parents, and a range of partners, They did not meet with the
local authority data team during this review but considered information provided by
this team.

The reviewers considered a range of documentation presented by the group and
looked in detail at a sample of case files and the systems for monitoring support for
vulnerable families.

They evaluated the group’s safeguarding procedures, including training records and
safe recruitment checks.

At the time of the review the cluster manager was absent but she joined the meetings
at the end of each day.

Indige Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

pace Pggge 49

Final version




.
. XY ' .
Childrenand N d
Familieskirst <
Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

&

Information about this children’s centre group

Coventry — South West 2 is managed by the local authority. It includes two centres:
Tile Hill and Canley. It has shared services and leadership, governance and
management and is therefore considered to be a group by Ofsted. Canley Children's
Centre is situated on a primary school site (Charter School). Tile Hill Children’s Centre
is situated close to a library and health centre.

The group offers family support, parenting, early learning activities and child and
family health services.

The group serves an area that includes seven of the top 30% most deprived localities
in England. About one third of the total number of children in the reach area live in
these more deprived localities.

3,353 children aged under five are estimated to live within the area served by the
group. Most of the families living in the reach area are of White British origin, with
smaller proportions of families from a wide range of other ethnic backgrounds.

Children’s skills and knowledge when they start at nursery are typical for their age.

The group has identified the following priority groups of families: children living in the
eight most deprived areas (based on IDACI / IMD); children aged two who are eligible
for free early education; vulnerable children including all those subject to Common
Assessment Framework processes, looked after children, children subject to child
protection or child in need plans and children and families experiencing domestic
violence,

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www Indigoese.co.uk

Page 50 Page 2 of 6

Final version




7 o
]

Childrenand
Familieslirst

Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

Access to services by young children and families

Strengths

« The ‘acting early’ partnership with health services is exceptional and a model
of very good practice nationally. This approach has contributed very well
to the increasing number of families expecting children and those with
young babies being known to early childhood services. The recent provision of live
birth data, following learning from previous reviews, has strengthened
information sharing further and as a result the group is well on track to
ensure that it knows where almost ali children aged under one are.

o The uptake of free early education by two-year-olds is good as a direct result of
the group’s work with families, including going out into the community and
knocking on the doors of families.

e Access to services is improving strongly. In the Tile Hill area 93% of under
ones are registered and 84% are registered in the Canley area. There is,
however, a significant difference between the proportions sustaining
contact. 50% access three times or more in Tile Hill and only 33% in Canley.
This may reflect, again, the positive impact of the ‘acting early’ pilot in Tile Hill.

Aspects requiring improvement

+ Data analysis is overly complicated and restricts the otherwise good efforts
of managers to use data meaningfully to plan services. Leaders have not,
therefore, been able to accurately analyse attendance of all priority families.

o The majority of children living in the area are registered and access
children’s centre services at least once (55% overall). However, the group is
not yet able to clearly demonstrate the sustained engagement of all target
children and families, particularly those living in the most deprived areas and
those under the age of three.

o There is variation in the proportions of families known and registered
between Canley and Tile Hill. In the Canley area the minority of children
are currently registered and accessing services and this aspect requires
improvement.

o The large majority of children living in the eight most deprived areas are not
yet registered and accessing services. The picture is better when the group
attempts to remove some of the four year olds from its data but this
complicates the picture and Is not a true representation of the 0-5s5 in the
reach. It would be more appropriate to improve information sharing so that
all three- and four-year-olds known to the centres and those accessing early
education are accurately included in the overall engagement of children aged 0-
5.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Pase REEGE 51

Final version




Childrenand
FamiliesFirst

Y &
&

Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

The quality of practice and services

Strengths

The group of centres, and its parthers, deliver a good range of
appropriate services, which are open to ali families and those requiring
additional support. The group has a clearly defined rationale for the services
delivered.

One-to-one family support work is a particular strength of the group.
Families, including those who have experienced domestic abuse or are
subject to child protection plans are well supported.

The ‘acting early’ meetings help to ensure that very young children are known
to a wide range of services and their needs are discussed and met in a joined up
way.

Leaders accurately judge the quality of services, which are typically good.
Parents are very happy with the quality of support they receive.

The centres provide good support to help improve the quality of early
years services across the reach area.

The partnership with Warwickshire Wildlife Trust is good and helps to
engage significant numbers of families in outdoor learning. This helps to promote
heaithy lifestyles, develop a love of nature and promote personal and social
development. '

Opportunities for parents to volunteer are very good. Many parents help to
deliver services and shape provision through the Paitnership Advisory Board.
Significant numbers of parents go on to further training and employment.

Obesity rates are generally low across the reach area.

The co-located nursery has recently been inspected and judged to be
outstanding. The impact of this provision on the wider group has not yet been fully
realised, particularly in terms of sharing practice about tracking children’s
outcomaes.

Aspects requiring improvement

Systems to track the progress of targeted children are not well developed and
data are not analysed sufficiently well to demonstrate that priority children
make good or better progress overall.

Data on levels of children’s achievement at the end of the Early Years
Foundation Stage are not sufficiently analysed to help identify which groups of
children require additional support and to show that the work of the group is
helping to narrow inequalities.

The data provided by adult learning do not sufficiently identify whether parents
of children aged under five attend some courses, such as English for
Speakers of Other Languages, to help them develop skills for employment. This
therefore limits the group's ability to demonstrate whether or not parents are well
engaged.

The quality of case file recording is variable and quality assurance processes
are not clearly evident on files.

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indige Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B

ananas dndieeneen om0l
VR ek O CT

Page 52

ToaK

Page 4 of 6
Final version




G
@

Childrenand
Familieskirst

Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

The effectiveness of leadership, governance and management

Strengths

« Information sharing with social care is effective and helps to safeguard
children. The ‘raise, share and review’ and ‘acting early’ meetings contribute {o
ensuring that vulnerable families receive help at the earliest possible opportunity.
Likewise, highly effective and regular supervision of staff helps to ensure families
are effectively safeguarded.

e The local authority has driven improvements in the quality of family support
work and early help, including the use of the Common Assessment
Framework, very well. This successful approach to driving performance now
needs to be applied to driving up access by target families and evidencing the
impact of services.

e The range of partners who attend the advisory board and contribute to the
group’s development is good.

Aspects requiring improvement

e The group has correctly identified some key priorities on which to focus its
work. However, it does not yet have sufficiently clear targets to further improve
access so that the large majority of those targeted sustain contact with the
centres.

+ Effective systems to evidence the impact of services, particularly on
children’s progress, are not yet in place and it is therefore difficult for leaders to
demonstrate the impact of the group’s work in this area.

¢ The local authority’s target setting and monitoring processes are not robust
enough to ensure the group is on track to be judged as good or better. As a
result the advisory board does not have an effective framework from which to
challenge and support the group’s leadership.

o Leaders should more regularly and consistently review the quality of case
file recording to identify gaps and ensure that all files are consistently good.

» Designated safeguarding lead(s) should undertake updated training in line with
the requirements set out in Keeping Children Safe in Education 2015,

Likely inspection judgement 3

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 98B
www.indigocsc.co.uk

Page Pige 53

Final version




] Y
Childrenand
Familieslirst

&

Review Report, 28-29 July 2015

Suggested improvements — the most important things to do

Joint improvements between the LA and group

L]

Ensure that data are available and analysed to show the proportions of
identified target group chiidren accessing early childhood services, including
those living In the most deprived target areas and for all target groups

Analyse data to show the proportions of children aged under three accessing
early childhood services and the sustained engagement of target children and
families in services.

Use data on levels of children's achievement at the end of the Early
Years Foundation Stage to identify which groups of children require additional
support and to show that strategies are narrowing inequalities.

Ensure the development plan includes sufficiently clear outcome-based,
specific, measurable targets.

Centre specificimprovements

®

Ensure that the large majority of priority families sustain contact with the centres.
Improve access to services for families living in the Canley area.

Update the self-evaluation form to include the data on access by target groups
and to better show the impact of services on narrowing inequalities.

Strengthen tracking processes to demonstrate that target children make good
or better progress as a result of attending activities and services provided by
the group.

Local authority specificimprovements

[ ]

Set clear targets around Improving access to services and monitor these
regularly to ensure improvements are delivered at a good pace.

Set outcome-based targets around health outcomes, adult learning and
early learning with the centre manager, so that the local authority and PAB can
monitor the group's progress and demonstrate effectiveness of services more
easily.

Work with adult learning to provide data to show the numbers of parents
of children aged under five from the reach area attending courses, such as
English or mathematics.

Indigo Children’s Services CIC, University of Cumbria, Ambleside LA22 9BB
vww.indigocsc.co.uk

Page 54 Page 6 of 6

Final version




Agenda Iltem 5
o
P,
2

Coventry City Council

Public report

15 September, 2015

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People — Councillor Ruane

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of Resources

Ward(s) affected:
None

Title:
Outstanding Issues Report

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive Summary:

The City Council has adopted an Outstanding Minutes System, linked to the Forward Plan, to
ensure that follow up reports can be monitored and reported to Members. The attached appendix
sets out a table detailing the issues on which further reports have been requested by the Cabinet
Member for Children and Young People so he is aware of them and can monitor progress.
Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member for Children and Young People is requested to consider the list of
outstanding issues and to ask the Member of the Strategic Management Board or appropriate
officer to explain the current position on those which should have been discharged at this
meeting or an earlier meeting.

List of Appendices included:

Table of Outstanding Issues.

Other useful background papers:

None

Has it or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it, or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or other
body?

No

Page 55



Will this report go to Council?

No

Report author(s):
Suzanne Bennett

Name and job title:
Governance Services Officer

Directorate:
Resources

Tel and email contact:
Tel: 024 7683 3072
E-mail: Suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver Title Directorate or | Date doc | Date response
name organisation sent out received or
approved

Contributors:

Other members Not applicable

Names of approvers:
(officers and members)

Finance: Name Not applicable

Legal: Name Not applicable

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Page 56


http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings

Subject

Date for Further
Consideration

Responsible Officer

Proposed
Amendment to Date
for Consideration

Reason for Request to
Delay Submission of Report

Proposed Revised Model for Those
Requiring Supported
Accommodation who have High
Levels Needs

Report requested as part of the
consideration of the report on
Supported Accommodation for Young
People 16-24

(Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People — 20 January, 2015)

Appropriate time
prior to the
commencement
of the tendering
process

Executive Director of
People

)G abed




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Coventry Children's Centres - Progress Update
	04a - Coventry Children's Centres - Progress Update - Appendix

	5 Outstanding Issues Report

